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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN 

POOR QUALITY ORIGINAL 

Case: 2:25-cv-14188 
Assigned To : Grey, Jonathan J.C. 
Referral Judge: Patti, Anthony P. 
Assign. Date : 12/30/2025 
Description: CMP Michael Koester V DraftKings, Inc 
(LH) 

Plaintiff Michael Koester ("Plaintiff" or "Koester") individually and on behalf of all others 

similarly situated brings this Complaint and Jury Demand against DraftKings Inc. and its Subsidiaries 

("DraftKings" or "Defendants") and states and alleges as follows: 

This case is about Defendants' systemic failure to follow the laws of the State of Michigan, 

Colorado, Connecticut, Indiana, Iowa, Louisiana, and New York with respect to internet sports/casino 

gambling and in particular user implemented gaming protections. As a result of these violations of 

multiple states' laws, Plaintiff and similarly positioned individuals were harmed. 

When the Michigan legislature passed the Lawful Internet Gaming Act (Act 152 of 2019), the 

legislature was very specific in including language meant to protect Michigan patrons using these online 
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casinos and sportsbooks. While online gambling can be an entertaining pastime, the legislature knew 

that there were substantial risks to Michigan residents and protections needed to be in place. 

One of those protections that was put in place was Michigan law Ml ADC R 432.653(2)(c) which states: 

Once established by an authorized participant and implemented by the internet gaming 
platform, it must only be possible to reduce the severity of self-imposed limitations upon 
24 hours' notice 

The states of Colorado, Connecticut, Indiana, Iowa, Louisiana, and New York contain identically 

worded or functionally similar statutes regarding patron protections. 

Plaintiff (and similarly situated individuals) made pro-active decisions to protect themselves by 

establishing gaming limits (including deposit limits and wager amount limits), which when taken in 

combination with state law, provide robust protections for users. 

Defendants deliberately chose not to include these legally mandated patron protections within 

their online gaming platform and clearly violated these states' laws. By not properly implementing 

these legally required 24 Hour waiting periods for limit increases once an increase was requested, 

Defendants rendered the Plaintiff's established limits and protections functionally useless. 

While DraftKings is a gambling platform, this is not a case about gambling and gambling related 

losses. This is a straightforward case about Defendants violating state laws by accepting deposits and 

allowing wagers on its platform when the law very clearly prohibits such activity. 

Plaintiff brings this suit against all defendants for violation of Ml regulation Ml ADC R 

432.653(2)(c) (and similar statutes in Colorado, Connecticut, Indiana, Iowa, Louisiana, and New York), 

breach of contract, statutory conversion pursuant to MCL 600.2919a(l)(a) (and similar statutes in 

Indiana and Colorado and Connecticut), and negligent infliction of emotional distress. 
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Plaintiff Michael Koester is, and at all times relevant to this action was, a resident and citizen of 

Michigan, who was able to deposit and wager monies on Defendants' sports betting platform in 

violation of Michigan law. 

Defendant DraftKings is a Delaware corporation with its headquarters located in Boston, MA. 

This Court has original jurisdiction over this action under the Class Action Fairness Act of 2005, 

28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2) as to the named Plaintiff and every member of the Classes because the Classes 

contains more than 100 members, the aggregate amount in controversy exceeds $5 million, and 

members of the Class reside across the United States and are therefore diverse from Defendants. 

This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because Defendants do business in 

Michigan. 

Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391(b)(2) because a substantial part of 

the events giving rise to Plaintiffs claims occurred in this District. 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the state of Michigan and became aware of DraftKings in the latter half of 

2021. Plaintiff registered account, including transferring funds to said account, with Defendants' 

platform at that time. This account was a financial holding account which held Plaintiff's deposits and 

withdrawals. 

Draft Kings is an online gaming operator that runs sports betting and casino operations 

nationally and within Michigan in particular. 
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Within the Lawful Internet Gaming Act (Act 152 of 2019} the Michigan Legislature established 

laws to promote patron protections. The Lawful Internet Gaming Act (Act 152 of 2019} §432.309(1){f} 

requires the State to "Develop and enforce requirements for responsible gaming and player 

protection ... " 

One of those player protections is mandated in Ml ADC R 432.653(2){c) which states: 

Once established by an authorized participant and implemented by the internet 

gaming platform, it must only be possible to reduce the severity of self-imposed 

limitations upon 24 hours' notice 

The plain meaning of this regulation is clear that once a patron establishes any responsible 

gaming limitations (deposit, spend, time, wager amount}, there must be at least a 24-hour waiting 

period after patron requests an increase to their self-imposed limits before that request can take effect. 

These laws are rooted in the goal of protecting gamblers, specifically compulsive gamblers. One 

of the main tools that all compulsive gamblers are taught in order to fight gambling urges is to delay 

gambling. This 24 hour notice law was intended to provide a safety net to gamblers and provide that all­

important delay. Without these protections, gamblers might gamble (And therefore lose} more money 

than they can reasonably afford to lose. These financial losses can lead to stress, anxiety, health 

disorders, family conflict, and even so far as the loss of a job or home. 

When the Michigan legislature adopted this rule, according to the Michigan Regulatory Impact 

Statement {2020-10 TY), the Michigan Legislature looked at Indiana and New Jersey as potential models. 

Based on the adopted language, Michigan copied Indiana's language. 
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State Statute Language 

Once established by an authorized participant and 
implemented by the internet gaming platform, it must only 

Michigan Ml ADC R432.653(2)(c) be possible to reduce the severity of self-imposed 

limitations upon 24 hours' notice 

Once established by a patron and implemented by the 

sports wagering system, it must only be possible to reduce 

Indiana 68 IAC 27-12-3(b)(3) the severity of self-imposed limitations upon twenty-four 

(24) hour notice, or as required by the commission 

An Internet or mobile gaming system shall be capable of 
allowing a patron to establish the following responsible 

New Jersey NJ ADC 13:690-1.4 (n) 
gaming limits. Any decrease to these limits shall be 
effective no later than the patron's next log in. Any 

increase to these limits shall become effective only after 

the time period of the previous limit has expired 

Michigan specifically adopted the law requiring a 24 Hour waiting period once an increase was 

requested, not the rule allowing immediate increases once the limit period had passed. 

Defendants' platform violates this law. The platform allows for an immediate increase of these user 

established limits without a 24-hour waiting period. 

In order to protect himself when using the platform, Plaintiff established deposit limits, the first 

of which was established around December 2021. In the subsequent months, when Plaintiff considered 

adjusting his user defined limits, Defendants' platform did not enforce the 24 hour waiting period, 

instead allowing immediate increases to limits once it was requested. An example of this is shown 

below. 
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But for this immediate ability to increase gaming limits, Plaintiff would have been able to delay 

the gambling impulse and avoid falling into a destructive gambling spiral which caused him significant 

harm. 

This pattern of establishing limits, and then being able to remove these limits without the 

required 24-hour waiting period, occurred numerous times between January 2022 and January 2023. 

During these occurrences, Defendants accepted illegal deposits in excess of $25,000. 

According to the User Agreement, Plaintiff has met his procedural requirements by both filing a 

complaint with DraftKings customer service and then subsequently with the Michigan Gaming Control 

Board before bringing this action. 

Defendants' decision not to enforce a 24 hour waiting period on its platform puts Defendants at 

odds with industry practice. Specifically, Defendants' competitor platforms within Michigan all enforce 

the plain language of the law and require an at least 24 hour waiting period before a user can increase a 

limit once a request has bene made. 
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to confu ,~, ci pt-ndu'g j:1111: !f yot. cl~c11;9t-your r11nc: yOL• cu,~ cancE-1 d P'="'~c:1119 llrn1t CJ~ 

any t1111,;-

Global dE-pos,t l11nits Slperoay 

No c!ay :,r~1,: 

':" .. cc .: -: ,: : : •• .. : :· . ·• • • : • •· : .. '. :-- S♦pt♦mbor 19. 2022 11 9 0S•m ET 

Glob,11 c:E-posrt iiirnts S2 per ,·:ee,< 

Global deposit limits S3 per 111011th 

O<1ob♦ r 17. 2022 at 9 0S•m ET , ...... : . .. 
:::· ( •.: : : .. ·,- : :· . 

Hi:l:::F 
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Confirm your limits 

After the cooldown period 

These lim:ts are not yet activated Be sure to come back after the cooldown penoc 

to confirm a pending emit. fyot. change your � mina you car cancel a pending limit at 

any time 

Global deposit limits $1 per day 

No day timit 

September 19, 2022 at 9 05am ET 

Global deposit limits $2 per week 

• : � September 23, 2022 at 9 0Sam ET . 

Global deposit limits $3 per � month 

No � month h�ut 

October 17, 2022 at 9 05am ET 
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Settings 

Communication Preferences 

Change POSSWOf'd 

Qu,c1r: Bel 

a,.,· .. ~·-• X + 

f- C 0 

~~sJ.~CM 'oc Sports Casino Poker 

Responsible Gaming Limits 

vol, ::on 1,uve comple!e contro1 over your f1n11ts cmci set 

vour limits re, some or o!I al the loltow1ny options 

P1eose Note: Ta better monage your wagering habits. 

any l,mit increases will toke effect afte, o • 

Please Note: To better manage your wagering habits, 

any limit increases will take effect after a \',1ci_i_tjn9 

period. 

11 

l••J H!u I •,I OOC,C,~ 

Wait Period 

Doily Limit: 24 hours from the time of request 

Weekly limit: 

1. If request given on lost day of week: Activation on end 

of next week, i.e. Sunday midnight 

2.lf request given on any other doy of week: Activation 

on start of next week. i.e. Sunday midnight. 

Monthly Limit: 

1.11 request given on lost day of month: Activation on 

end of next month. 

2Jf request given on ony other doy of the month: 

Activation on start of next month. 
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i i lMGM . spoas Casino Par" op.« � • 

My Ac«ount Details Hand+xi,tory My Trans@ctwns Setting» EETMUMWew@ds 

Settings 

Communication Preferences 

Change Password 

Quick Bet 

BETMGM � Sports Casino Poker 
MCI6GAN 

Responsible Gaming Limits 

You con have complete control over your imits and set 
your limits for some or o!! of the following options 

Please Note: To better manage your wagering habits. 
any limit increases will take effect atter a 

Please Note: To better manage your wagering habits, 

any limit increases will take effect after a waiting 

period. 
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u+jau /•, 000058 

Wait Period 

Daily Limit: 24 hours from the time of request 

Weekly Limit: 

1. If request given on last day of week: Activation on end 

of next week, i.e. Sunday midnight 

2.1f request given on any other day of week: Activation 

on start of next week, i.e. Sunday midnight 

Monthly Limit: 

1.If request given on last day of month: Activation on 

end of next month. 

2.1f request given on any other day of the month: 

Activation on start of next month. 
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Tribal casinos within Michigan also follow this law. Below is an example of Soaring Eagle Casino 

enforcing this regulation 

~·--··--1 
• ' • I 
Q • ,l O ! 

I 

\ 
\ 

Defendants' platform is an outlier in not abiding by this law. 
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Tribal casinos within Michigan also follow this law. Below is an example of Soaring Eagle Casino 

enforcing this regulation 

$50 

: { ix' 

$100 

Monthly Limit 

$0.00 

PENDING LIMIT 
rameri@wt , tin a 

Li#rita History 

PENDING LIMIT 

MONTI4Y LIMIT - no imit � 

Defendants' platform is an outlier in not abiding by this law. 

12 

···•·-----··-----·-···, � • I 

� * 1 � 



Case 2:25-cv-14188-JJCG-APP   ECF No. 1, PageID.13   Filed 12/30/25   Page 13 of 27 

DraftKings DraftKings User User Agreement Agreement Terms Terms and and Conditions Conditions 

The terms and conditions of the Defendants' platform User Agreement state "These Terms of 

Use shall be governed by the internal substantive laws of the State of Michigan, without respect to its 

conflict of laws principles or any other law or regulation that would permit or require the application of 

the substantive laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of Michigan. Any claim or dispute between 

you and DraftKings that arises in whole or in part from the Terms of Use, the Website or any Contest 

shall be decided exclusively by a court of competent jurisdiction located in the State of Michigan." 

Plaintiff registered their account within the state of Michigan (Colorado, Connecticut, Indiana, Iowa, 

Louisiana, and New York Respectively) and therefor Defendants and their platform is governed by 

Michigan laws, including Ml ADC R 432.653(2)(c). Failure of Defendants to follow Michigan laws 

constitutes a breach on their part of Defendants' platform User Agreement. 

As mentioned above, Plaintiff has met his procedural requirements by both filing a complaint 

with DraftKings customer service and then subsequently with the Michigan Gaming Control Board 

before bringing this action. 

As identified above, Michigan, Colorado, Connecticut, Indiana, Iowa, Louisiana, and New York all 

have similar or identical statutes. These are listed below: 
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State Regulation Language 

Once established by a patron and implemented by the sports betting system, it 

Colorado 1 CO ADC 207-2 {3)(b)(iii) must only be possible to reduce the severity of self-imposed limitations upon 24 

hours' notice, or as required by the Commission 

Once established by a patron and implemented by the on line gaming operator, it 

Connecticut CT ADC§ 12-865-11 (t)(3) shall only be possible to reduce the severity of self-imposed limitations upon 

; 

Indiana 

Iowa 

Louisiana 

Michigan 

New York 

twenty-four hours' notice, or as required by the department. 

68 IAC 27-12-3{b)(3) 
Once established by a patron and implemented by the sports wagering system, it 

must only be possible to reduce the severity of self-imposed limitations upon 

twentv-four (24) hour notice, or as re qui red by the commission 

A process for players to easily impose limitations or notifications for deposits 

and monetary participation in a contest. Limitations must be applied 

491-14.13(99E) (1) (e) automatically, take effect immediately, and be implemented as indicated by the 

player. No changes can be made reducing the severity of the self-imposed 

limitations for at least 24 hours 

Players shall have the option to adjust the self-limits to make them more 

restrictive as often as they choose, but shall not have the option to make the 

La. Admin Code. tit. 42, Pt VI,§ 515 {8)(2) time period or limits less restrictive within 72 hours of setting. Any change must 

provide a prompt to ensure the player is aware of the change and the player 

must then confirm the change 

Once established by an authorized participant and implemented by the internet 

Ml ADC R 432.653(2)(c) gaming platform, it must only be possible to reduce the severity of self-imposed 

limitations upon 24 hours' notice 

Any holder of an account voluntarily restricted may have such restrictions 

removed or modified upon written or in-person request to the racing association 

9 NY ADC 5403.2 (a)(2) and 9 NY ADC 5330.8 or corporation. Pursuant to Racing, Pari-Mutuel Wagering and Breeding Law 

(c)(3) section 111(3), no request from a person to remove any limit placed on account 

wagers shall be effective until seven days after such request has been received 

bv the racing association or corooration. 

This action is properly brought as a class action under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(a) for 

the following reasons: 

(a) Numerosity (Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(l)): The proposed Class is so numerous and geographically dispersed 

throughout the United States that the joinder of all class members is impracticable. While Plaintiff does 

not know the exact number and identity of the Class, Plaintiff is informed and believe that there are 

over 100 class members. The precise number of class members may be ascertained through discovery; 

(b) Commonality and Predominance (Fed. R. Civ. P. 23{a)(2) and 23(b)(3)): There are questions of law 

and fact common to the proposed class which predominate over any questions that may affect 

particular class members. Such common questions of law and fact include, but are not limited to: 
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player. No changes can be made reducing the severity of the self-imposed 
limitations for at least 24 hours 
Players shall have the option to adjust the self-limits to make them more 
restrictive as often as they choose, but shall not have the option to make the 

La. Admin Code. tit. 42, Pt VI, § 515 (B)(2) time period or limits less restrictive within 72 hours of setting. Any change must 
provide a prompt to ensure the player is aware of the change and the player 
must then confirm the change 
Once established by an authorized participant and implemented by the internet 

Ml ADC R 432.653(2)(c) gaming platform, it must only be possible to reduce the severity of self-imposed 
limitations upon 24 hours' notice 
Any holder of an account voluntarily restricted may have such restrictions 
removed or modified upon written or in-person request to the racing association 

9 NYADC 5403.2 (a)(2) and 9 NY ADC 5330.8 or corporation. Pursuant to Racing, Pari-Mutuel Wagering and Breeding Law 
(c)(3) section 111(3), no request from a person to remove any limit placed on account 

wagers shall be effective until seven days after such request has been received 
by the racing association or corporation. 

CLASS CLASS ACTION ACTION ALLEGATIONS ALLEGATIONS 

This action is properly brought as a class action under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(a) for 

the following reasons: 

(a) Numerosity (Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(1)): The proposed Class is so numerous and geographically dispersed 

throughout the United States that the joinder of all class members is impracticable. While Plaintiff does 

not know the exact number and identity of the Class, Plaintiff is informed and believe that there are 

over 100 class members. The precise number of class members may be ascertained through discovery; 

(b) Commonality and Predominance (Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(2) and 23(b)(3)): There are questions of law 

and fact common to the proposed class which predominate over any questions that may affect 

particular class members. Such common questions of law and fact include, but are not limited to: 
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i. Whether Defendants violated Ml ADC R 432.653(2)(c) (and all other similar statutes); 

ii. Whether Defendants breached the Terms and Conditions of the Platform User Agreement 

with the Class Members; 

iii. Whether Defendant's acceptance of deposits and wagers in violation of Ml ADC R 

432.653(2)(c) (and all other similar statutes) constitutes statutory conversion; 

iv. Whether Defendant's acceptance of deposits and wagers in violation of Ml ADC R 

432.653(2)(c) (and all other similar statutes) constitutes a violation of EFTA (15 USC §1693) 

v. Whether the Class members are the type of individuals Ml ADC R 432.653(2)(c) (and all other 

similar statutes) was intended to protect; 

vi. Whether Plaintiff and the Classes have been harmed and the proper measure of relief; 

vii. Whether Plaintiff and the Classes are entitled to an award of punitive damages, attorneys' 

fees and expenses against Defendants; and 

viii. Whether, because of Defendants' misconduct, Plaintiff and the Classes are entitled to 

equitable relief, and if so, the nature of such relief. 

(c) Typicality (Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(3)): Plaintiff's claims are typical of the claims of the Class. Plaintiff and 

the Class have been injured by the same wrongful practices of Defendants. Plaintiff's claims arise from 

the same practices and conduct that give rise to the claims of the Classes and are based on the same 

legal theories; 

(d) Adequacy of Representation (Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(4)): Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the 

interests of the Classes in that they have no interests antagonistic to those of the other members of the 
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Classes, and Plaintiff will retained attorneys experienced in consumer class actions and complex 

litigation as counsel; 

This action is properly brought as a class action under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(b) for the 

following reasons: 

(a) Class Action Status (Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(l)): Class action status in this action is warranted under 

Rule 23(b)(l)(A) because prosecution of separate actions by the members of the Classes would 

create a risk of establishing incompatible standards of conduct for Defendants. Class action 

status is also warranted under Rule 23(b)(l)(B) because prosecution of separate actions by the 

members of the Classes would create a risk of adjudications with respect to individual members 

of the Classes that, as a practical matter, would be dispositive of the interests of other members 

not parties to this action, or that would substantially impair or impede their ability to protect 

their interests. 

(b) Declaratory and Injunctive Relief (Fed. R. C. P. 23(b)(2)): Certification under Rule 23(b)(2) is 

warranted because Defendants acted or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the 

Classes, thereby making appropriate final injunctive, declaratory, or other appropriate equitable 

relief with respect to the Classes as a whole. 

(c) Superiority (Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3)): Certification under Rule 23(b)(3) is appropriate because 

questions of law or fact common to members of the Classes predominate over any questions 

affecting only individual members, and class action treatment is superior to the other available 

methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of this controversy. 

(d) The proposed Classes are ascertainable and there is a well-defined community of interest in the 

questions of law or fact alleged herein since the rights of each proposed Class Member were 

infringed or violated in the same fashion; 
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A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of this 

controversy for at least the following reasons: 

(a) Given the size of individual Class Member's claims and the expense of litigating those claims, 

few, if any, Class Members could afford to or would seek legal redress individually for the wrongs 

Defendants committed against them and absent Class Members have no substantial interest in 

individually controlling the prosecution of individual actions; 

(b) This action will promote an orderly and expeditious administration and adjudication of the 

proposed Classes' claims, economies of time, effort and resources will be fostered and uniformity of 

decisions will be insured; 

(c) Without a class action, Class Members will continue to suffer damages, and Defendant's 

violations of law will proceed without remedy while Defendants continue to reap and retain the 

substantial proceeds of their wrongful conduct; and 

(d) Plaintiff knows of no difficulty that will be encountered in the management of this litigation 

which would preclude its maintenance as a class action. Defendants have, or have access to, 

address information for the Class Members, which may be used for the purpose of providing notice 

of the pendency of this class action. 

(e) Plaintiff seeks damages and equitable relief on behalf of the Classes on grounds generally 

applicable to the entire proposed Classes. 

Plaintiff brings this class action on behalf of the following class (the "Class"): All persons who 

created an account with DraftKings, whether via its website, mobile app, or third-party platform, who 
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proposed Classes' claims, economies of time, effort and resources will be fostered and uniformity of 

decisions will be insured; 

(c) Without a class action, Class Members will continue to suffer damages, and Defendant's 

violations of law will proceed without remedy while Defendants continue to reap and retain the 

substantial proceeds of their wrongful conduct; and 

(d) Plaintiff knows of no difficulty that will be encountered in the management of this litigation 

which would preclude its maintenance as a class action. Defendants have, or have access to, 

address information for the Class Members, which may be used for the purpose of providing notice 

of the pendency of this class action. 

(e) Plaintiff seeks damages and equitable relief on behalf of the Classes on grounds generally 

applicable to the entire proposed Classes. 

Definition Definition of of Proposed Proposed Class Class 

Plaintiff brings this class action on behalf of the following class (the "Class"): All persons who 

created an account with DraftKings, whether via its website, mobile app, or third-party platform, who 
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signed up for DraftKings accounts and who were able to increase their self-imposed usage limits without 

the required 24 hour waiting period before the limit increase took effect. Excluded from the Class are 

Defendants and their officers and directors at all relevant times, members of Defendants' immediate 

families and their legal representatives, heirs, successors, and assigns, and any entity in which the 

Defendants have or had a controlling interest. 

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend or modify the Class in connection with a Motion for Class 

Certification or as the result of discovery. 

Certification of Plaintiff's claims for class-wide treatment is appropriate because Plaintiff can 

prove the elements of the claims on a class-wide basis using the same evidence as individual Class 

Members would use to prove those elements in individual actions alleging the same claims. 

Plaintiff does not currently know the exact size of the proposed Class. However, Plaintiff is 

aware that the Class is so numerous that joinder of the individual Members of the proposed Class is 

impracticable. On information and belief, the Class includes at least hundreds of people throughout the 

states of Michigan, Colorado, Connecticut, Indiana, Iowa, Louisiana, and New York. The number and 

identities of Class Members are unknown to Plaintiff, but can be ascertained through discovery, 

including into Defendants' account records, electronic messages, and customer service files, as well as 

through published notice. 

Plaintiff's claims are typical of the Class, and Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the 

interests of the Class. Plaintiff has no interests adverse to the interests of the Class and will retain 

counsel capable of managing this case once certain threshold questions are answered by the court. 
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signed up for DraftKings accounts and who were able to increase their self-imposed usage limits without 

the required 24 hour waiting period before the limit increase took effect. Excluded from the Class are 

Defendants and their officers and directors at all relevant times, members of Defendants' immediate 

families and their legal representatives, heirs, successors, and assigns, and any entity in which the 

Defendants have or had a controlling interest. 

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend or modify the Class in connection with a Motion for Class 

Certification or as the result of discovery. 

Certification of Plaintiff's claims for class-wide treatment is appropriate because Plaintiff can 

prove the elements of the claims on a class-wide basis using the same evidence as individual Class 

Members would use to prove those elements in individual actions alleging the same claims. 

Size Size of of the the Proposed Proposed Class Class 

Plaintiff does not currently know the exact size of the proposed Class. However, Plaintiff is 

aware that the Class is so numerous that joinder of the individual Members of the proposed Class is 

impracticable. On information and belief, the Class includes at least hundreds of people throughout the 

states of Michigan, Colorado, Connecticut, Indiana, Iowa, Louisiana, and New York. The number and 

identities of Class Members are unknown to Plaintiff, but can be ascertained through discovery, 

including into Defendants' account records, electronic messages, and customer service files, as well as 

through published notice. 

Adequacy Adequacy of of Representation Representation by by the the Class Class Representative Representative 

Plaintiff's claims are typical of the Class, and Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the 

interests of the Class. Plaintiff has no interests adverse to the interests of the Class and will retain 

counsel capable of managing this case once certain threshold questions are answered by the court. 
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Questions of law or fact common to the Class exist as to Plaintiff and all Class Members, and 

these common questions predominate over any questions affecting only individual Class Members. 

Among the common questions of law and fact are the following: 

a. Whether Defendants' online platform functionality for player protections violated Michigan law Ml 

ADC R 432.653{2)(c) (and all similar statutes in Colorado, Connecticut, Indiana, Iowa, Louisiana, and New 

York); 

b. Whether Defendants, by violating Ml ADC R 432.653{2)(c) (and all similar statutes in Colorado, 

Connecticut, Indiana, Iowa, Louisiana, and New York), violated its own platform's User Agreement by 

not following Michigan (or Colorado, Connecticut, Indiana, Iowa, Louisiana, and New York) law, resulting 

in a breach of contract; 

c. Whether Defendants, by accepting deposits and wagers which is contrary to Michigan (or Colorado, 

Connecticut, Indiana, Iowa, Louisiana, and New York) law, illegally converted Plaintiff's deposits and 

wagers for its own purposes, making that conversion pursuant to MCL 600.2919a(l)(a) and treble 

damages (or similar statutes in Indiana and Colorado and Connecticut); 

d. Whether Defendant's acceptance of deposits in violation of Ml ADC R 432.653(2)(c) (and all other 

similar statutes) constitutes a violation of EFTA (15 USC §1693); 

e. Whether Defendants owed Plaintiff and the Class a duty, and whether they breached the same; and 

f. The amount of damages sustained by Plaintiff and the Class defined as all deposits and wagers 

accepted by DraftKings during each offending 24 hour period. 
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Common Common QuestQuestions ions of of Law Law and and FacFact t 

Questions of law or  fact common to the Class exist as to Pla intiff and a l l  Class Members, and 

these common questions predominate over any questions affecting on ly ind ividual Class Members. 

Among the common q uestions of law and fact a re the fol lowing: 

a .  Whether Defendants' o nl ine platform functiona l ity for player  protections violated Mich iga n law M l  

ADC R 432.653(2)(c) (and a l l  s imi lar  statutes in Colorado, Connecticut, Ind iana, Iowa, Louisiana, and New 

York); 

b. Whether Defendants, by violating Ml ADC R 432.653(2)(c) (and a l l  s imi lar  statutes in Colorado, 

Connecticut, Ind iana, Iowa, Louisiana, and New York), violated its own platform's User Agreement by 

not fo llowing M ich iga n (or  Colorado, Connecticut, Indiana, Iowa, Louisiana, and New York) law, resulting 

in  a breach of contract; 

c .  Whether  Defendants, by accepting deposits and wagers which is contra ry to Michiga n (or Colorado, 

Connecticut, I nd iana, Iowa, Louisiana, and New York) law, i l lega l ly converted Pla intiff's deposits and 

wagers for its own purposes, making that conversion pursuant to MCL 600.2919a (1 ) (a )  and treble 

damages (or s imi lar  statutes in  Ind iana and Colorado and Connecticut); 

d. Whether Defendant's acceptance of deposits in  violation of Ml ADC R 432.653(2)(c) (and a l l  other 

s imi lar statutes) constitutes a violation of EFTA (15 USC § 1693); 

e .  Whether Defendants owed Pla intiff and the Class a duty, and whether they breached the same; and 

f.  The amount of damages susta ined by Plaintiff and the Class defined as a l l  deposits and wagers 

accepted by DraftKings during each offending 24 hour period . 
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Typicality Typical ity of of Claims Claims of of the the Class Class ReRepresentatives presentatives 

Plaintiff does not anticipate any difficulties in the management of this action as a class action. 

The Class is ascertainable, and there is a well-defined community of interests in the questions of law and 

fact alleged because the rights of each Class Member were violated in similar fashion based on 

Defendants' misconduct. Notice can be provided through records and publication, the cost of which is 

properly imposed upon Defendants. 

Defendants engaged in a common course of conduct giving rise to the legal rights sought to be 

enforced by Plaintiff and the Class Members. Common questions of law and fact predominate over any 

individual questions that may arise. 

The injuries sustained by Plaintiff and the Class Members flow, in each instance, from a common 

nucleus of operative facts, i.e., Defendants' violation of Michigan law Ml ADC R 432.653(2)(c) (and 

similar statutes in Colorado, Connecticut, Indiana, Iowa, Louisiana, and New York). 

Plaintiff's claims are typical of the claims of the Class they seek to represent. Defendants' 

uniform obligations relating to patron protections apply equally to Plaintiff and all Class Members. 

Moreover, the defenses, if any, that will be asserted against Plaintiff's claims are typical of the defenses, 

if any, that will be asserted against all Class Members' claims. 

Plaintiff knows of no difficulty that will be encountered in the management of this litigation that 

would preclude its maintenance as a class action. The vast majority of the names and contact 

information of the Class Members is likely available from Defendants or their partners. 
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Plaintiff does not a nticipate a ny difficu lties in the management of this action as a class action. 

The Class is ascerta inable, and there is a wel l-defined community of interests in the questions of law and 

fact a l leged because the rights of each Class Member were violated in s imi lar fashion based on 

Defendants' misconduct. Notice can be provided through records and publ ication, the cost of which is 

properly imposed upon Defendants. 

Defendants engaged in a common course of conduct giving rise to the lega l rights sought to be 

enforced by Pla intiff and  the Class M em bers. Common q uestions of law and fact predominate over any 

individual questions that may a rise . 

The injuries susta ined by Pla i ntiff and the Class Members flow, in each instance, from a common 

nucleus of operative facts, i .e ., Defendants' violation of M ich igan law M l  ADC R 432 .653(2)(c) (and 

s imi lar statutes in Colorado, Connecticut, Ind iana, Iowa, Louisiana, and New York) .  

P la intiff' s c la ims a re typical of the c la ims of the Class they seek to represent. Defendants' 

un iform obl igations relating to patron protections apply equal ly to P la intiff and a l l  Class Members.  

Moreover, the defenses, if a ny, that wil l  be asserted aga inst Plaintiff's cla ims a re typical of the defenses, 

if any, that wi l l  be asserted aga inst a l l  Class Members' c la ims. 

Plaintiff knows of no d ifficulty that wil l  be encountered in the management of this l itigation that 

would preclude its maintenance as a class action. The vast majority of the names and  contact 

i nformation of the Class Members is l i ke ly ava i lab le from Defendants or their partners.  
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The class definition is carefully drawn such that the Class Members can easily be identified and 

notified using standard class notification methods, including analysis of Defendants' sales records, 

mailing, electronic notification, and other methods. 

To the extent possible, Plaintiff contemplates providing notice(s) to the Class, as approved by 

the Court, through the mail or as otherwise directed. In the alternative or in connection with mailed 

notices, Plaintiff may utilize paid advertising notices online or in media likely to draw the attention of 

Class Members e.g., specialty magazines. The notice(s) shall, among other things, advise the Class that 

they shall be entitled to "opt out" of the Class if they so request by a date specified within the notice 

and that any judgment, whether favorable or not, entered in this case will bind all members except 

those who affirmatively exclude themselves by timely opting out. 

Plaintiff incorporates by reference all allegations in this Complaint and restates them as if fully 

set forth herein. 

Ml ADC R 432.653(2)(c) and all similar statutes (1 CO ADC 207-2 (3)(b)(iii) (Colorado), CT ADC§ 

12-865-11-(t)(3) (Connecticut), 68 IAC 27-12-3(b)(3) (Indiana), 491-14.13(99E)(l)(e) (Iowa), La. Admin 

Code. tit. 42, Pt VI,§ 515 (8)(2) (Louisiana), and 9 NY ADC 5403.2 (a)(2) and 9 NY ADC 5330.8 (c)(3) (New 

York)) require an at least 24-hour waiting period for any increase in user implemented gaming limits 

once a request has been initiated. Defendants' gaming platform does not contain these patron 
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The class defin it ion is carefully d rawn such that the Class Members can easi ly be identified and 

notified using standa rd class notification methods, includ ing ana lysis of Defendants' sales records, 

mai l ing, e lectronic notification, and other methods. 

To the extent possible, P la intiff contemplates providing notice(s) to the Class, as approved by 

the Court, through the mai l  or as otherwise d i rected. In the a lternative or in connection with mai led 

notices, Pla intiff may uti l ize paid advertising notices onl ine or  in media l ikely to d raw the attention of 

Class Members e.g., specia lty magazines. The notice(s) shal l, among other things, advise the Class that 

they shall be entitled to "opt out" of the Class if they so request by a date specified within the notice 

and that any judgment, whether favorable or not, entered in this case wi l l  bind a l l  members except 

those who affi rmatively exclude themselves by timely opting out. 

FiFirst rst Cause Cause of of AcAction tion 

Violation Violation of of MiMichigan chigan regulation regulation Ml Ml ADC ADC R R 432.653(2)(c) 432.653(2)(c) and and al l  all similar similar statutes statutes in in Colorado, Colorado, 
ConConnecticut, necticut, Indiana, Indiana, Iowa, Iowa, LouisiLouisiana, ana, and and New New York York 

Pla intiff incorporates by reference a l l  a l legations in this Complaint and restates them as if fully 

set forth here in .  

M l  ADC R 432.653(2) (c)  and a l l  s imi lar statutes ( 1  CO ADC 207-2 (3) (b) ( i i i )  (Colorado), CT ADC § 

12-865-11-(t)(3) (Connecticut), 68 IAC 27-12-3()(3)  ( Ind iana), 491-14.13(99E) (1 ) (e) ( Iowa), La . Admin 

Code.  tit. 42,  Pt VI, § 515 (B ) (2 )  ( Lou is iana), and 9 NY ADC 5403.2 (a ) (2 )  and 9 NY ADC 5330.8 (c)(3) (New 

York)) requ ire an  at least 24-hour waiting period for any increase in user imp lemented gaming l imits 

once a request has been in itiated. Defendants' gaming platform does not conta in  these patron 
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protections and is in violation of state law, a violation which caused specific and tangible harm to 

plaintiff. 

As an online gaming operator of the associated states, Defendant has a statutorily established 

duty to comply with state platform regulations as outlined in MCL 432.307. 

Plaintiff and class seek declaratory relief, injunctive relief, nominal damages, punitive damages, 

and attorney's fees and costs. 

Plaintiff incorporates by reference all allegations in this Complaint and restates them as if fully 

set forth herein. 

Ml ADC R 432.653(2)(c) (and similar statutes in Colorado, Connecticut, Indiana, Iowa, Louisiana, 

and New York) requires a 24 hour waiting period for any increase in user implemented gaming limits 

once a request has been initiated. Defendants' gaming platform does not contain these patron 

protections and is in violation of state law, a violation which caused specific and tangible harm to 

plaintiff. 

Defendant had a statutory duty but breached that duty by failing to comply with the law. As a 

direct result of Defendants' breach of this statutory duty, Plaintiff and the Class suffered injuries in the 

form of monetary losses and associated financial distress. This law was enacted to specifically protect 

the Plaintiff and similarly positioned individuals from this specific type of harm. 

22 

Case 2 :25-cv-14188-JJCG-APP ECF No.  1 ,  Page lD .22 Filed 12/30/25 Page 22 of 27 

protections and is in violation of state law, a violation which caused specific and tangible harm to 

pla intiff. 

As an on l ine gam ing operator of the associated states, Defendant has a statutori ly estab l ished 

duty to comply with state platform regulations as outl ined in  MCL 432 .307. 

P la intiff and c lass seek declaratory rel ief, injunctive relief, nomina l  damages, pun itive damages, 

and attorney's fees and costs. 

Second Second Cause Cause of of Action Action 

Negligence Negligence per per se se -- Violation Violation of of MichiMichigan gan regulation regulation Ml Ml ADC ADC R R 432.653(2)(c) 432.653(2)(c) and and all all similar similar statutes statutes in in 
Colorado, Colorado, CoConnecticut, nnecticut, IndianIndiana, a, Iowa, Iowa, LoLouisiana, uisiana, and and New New York York 

Pla intiff i ncorporates by reference a l l  a l legations in this Compla int and restates them as if ful ly 

set forth herein .  

M l  ADC R 432.653(2) (c) (and s imi lar  statutes in Colorado, Connecticut, Ind iana, Iowa, Louis iana, 

a nd New York) requ i res a 24 hour  waiting period for any i ncrease in  user i mplemented gaming l im its 

once a request has been in it iated .  Defendants' gaming platform does not conta in these patron 

protections and is in violation of state law, a violation which caused specific and tangible harm to 

p la intiff. 

Defendant had a statutory duty but breached that d uty by fa i l ing to comply with the law. As a 

d i rect result of Defendants' breach of this statutory duty, Plaintiff and the Class suffered injuries in the 

form of moneta ry losses and associated financia l d istress. This law was enacted to specifica l ly protect 

the Plaintiff and s imi larly positioned ind ividuals from this specific type of harm. 
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Plaintiff and class seek monetary damages, injunctive relief, restitution, and disgorgement of all 

monies obtained by means of Defendants' unlawful conduct, interest, and attorney's fees and costs. 

Plaintiff incorporates by reference all allegations in this Complaint and restates them as if fully 

set forth herein. 

Under the terms and conditions of the User Agreement of the online platform, Defendants state 

that it will follow the laws of the state of Michigan (and Colorado, Connecticut, Indiana, Iowa, Louisiana, 

and New York). By illegally accepting deposits in violation of Ml ADC R 432.653(2)(c) (and similar 

-
statutes in Colorado, Connecticut, Indiana, Iowa, Louisiana, and New York), Defendants were in violation 

of their own User Agreement and as such is in breach of contract. Equity requires the illegal deposits 

and wagers to be refunded as restitution. 

Plaintiff incorporates by reference all allegations in this Complaint and restates them as if fully 

set forth herein. 

By accepting deposits and wagers which is contrary to Michigan (and Colorado and Indiana and 

Connecticut) laws, Defendants illegally converted Plaintiff's deposits and wagers for its own purposes. 

Pursuant to MCL 600.2919a(l)(a) (and similar statutes in Indiana and Colorado and Connecticut), 

Plaintiff and class is entitled to recover 3 times the amount of actual damages sustained, plus costs and 

reasonable attorney fees as a result of this illegal conversion. 
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Plaintiff and class seek moneta ry damages, i njunctive relief, restitution, and d isgorgement of a l l  

monies obtained by means of Defendants' unlawful conduct, interest, and  attorney's fees and costs. 

Third Third Cause Cause of of Action Action 

Breach Breach of of Contract Contract 

Pla intiff i ncorporates by reference a l l  a l legations in  this Compla int and restates them as if fu l ly 

set forth here in .  

Under the terms and conditions of the User Agreement of the onl ine platform, Defendants state 

that it wi l l  follow the laws of the state of M ichigan (and Colorado, Connecticut, Ind iana, Iowa, Louisiana, 

and New York) . By i l lega l ly accepting deposits in violation of M l  ADC R 432.653(2)(c) (and s imi lar 

statutes in  Colorado, Connecticut, Ind iana, Iowa, Louisiana, and New York), Defendants were in violation 

of their own User Agreement and as such is in breach of contract. Equity requ ires the i l legal deposits 

and wagers to be refunded as restitution .  

FourFourth th Cause Cause of of Action Action 

Statutory Statutory Conversion Conversion purpursuant suant to to MCL MCL 60600.2919a(l){a) 0.2919a(1)(a) and and similar similar statutes statutes in in Indiana Indiana and and Colorado Colorado 
and and Connecticut Connecticut 

Plaintiff incorporates by reference a l l  a l legations in this Compla int and restates them as if fu l ly 

set forth here in .  

By accepting deposits and wagers which is contra ry to Mich iga n (and Colorado and Ind iana and 

Connecticut) laws, Defendants i l lega l ly converted Pla int iff's deposits and wagers for its own purposes. 

Pursuant to MCL 600.2919a (1 ) (a )  (and simi lar statutes in Ind iana and Colorado and Connecticut), 

P la intiff and class is entitled to recover 3 t imes the amount of actua l  damages susta ined, plus costs and 

reasonable attorney fees as a result of this i l legal conversion. 
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Plaintiff incorporates by reference all allegations in this Complaint and restates them as if fully 

set forth herein. 

By negligently accepting deposits and wagers which is contrary to Michigan {and Colorado, 

Connecticut, Indiana, Iowa, Louisiana, and New York) laws, Defendants caused substantial financial 

strain on Plaintiff and those similarly situated, which resulted in significant stress on these individuals. 

This stress manifests itself in various ways including, cardiovascular deterioration, mental deterioration, 

fatigue, among others. 

Plaintiff and class seek monetary damages, injunctive relief, restitution, and disgorgement of all 

monies obtained by means of Defendants' unlawful conduct, interest, and attorney's fees and costs. 

Plaintiff incorporates by reference all allegations in this Complaint and restates them as if fully 

set forth herein. 

By facilitating/accepting electronic deposits into users' monetary deposit accounts contrary to 

Michigan (and Colorado, Connecticut, Indiana, Iowa, Louisiana, and New York) laws, Defendant violated 

EFTA by conducting "unauthorized electronic fund transfer." DraftKings did not have statutory authority 

to conduct these transfers. 

As authorized within EFTA - 15 USC §1693(m), Plaintiff and class seek monetary damages, 

injunctive relief, restitution, and disgorgement of all monies obtained by means of Defendant's unlawful 

conduct, interest, and attorney's fees and costs. 
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Fifth Fifth Cause Cause of of AcAction tion 

Negligent Negligent InInfliction fliction of of EmotioEmotional nal DiDistress stress 

Pla intiff inco rporates by reference a l l  a l legations in this Complaint and restates them as if fully 

set forth here in .  

By negligently accept ing deposits and wagers which is contra ry to Michiga n (and Colorado, 

Connecticut, I nd iana, Iowa, Louis iana, and New York) laws, Defendants caused substantia l fi nancial 

stra in  on Plaintiff and those s imi la rly situated, which resulted in sign ificant stress on these individuals .  

This stress manifests itself in va rious ways including, card iovascular deterioration, menta l deterioration, 

fatigue, among others. 

P la intiff and class seek monetary damages, injunctive re l ief, restitution, and disgorgement of a l l  

monies obtained by means of Defendants' un lawful conduct, interest, and  attorney's fees and  costs. 

Sixth Sixth Cause Cause of of Action Action 

Violation Violation of of EFEFTA TA (E(Electronic lectronic Fund Fund TransTransfers fers Act) Act)-15 - 15 USC USC §16§1693 93 

Pla intiff incorporates by reference a l l  a l legations in this Compla int and restates them as if fu l ly 

set forth here in .  

By faci l itating/accepting e lectron ic deposits into users' monetary deposit accounts contrary to 

Michiga n (and Colorado, Connecticut, Ind iana, Iowa, Louisiana, and New York) laws, Defendant vio lated 

EFTA by conducting "unauthorized electronic fund transfer." DraftKings d id not have statutory authority 

to conduct these transfers. 

As authorized within EFTA - 15 USC §1693(m), Plaintiff and class seek monetary damages, 

injunctive re l ief, restitution, and d isgorgement of a l l  monies obtained by means of Defendant's unlawful 

conduct, interest, and attorney's fees and costs. 
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PRAYER PRAYER PRAYER FOR FOR FOR RELIEF RELIEF REL IEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests judgment as follows: 

l. That the case be certified as a class action on behalf of the Class, appoint Plaintiff as Class 

representative, and appoint his counsel as Class counsel; 

2. A declaration that Defendants' actions, as described herein, violate the law as described herein; 

3. An award of injunctive and other equitable relief as necessary to protect the interests of Plaintiff 

and the Class, including an order prohibiting Defendants from engaging in the unlawful acts 

described above; 

4. An award to Plaintiff and the proposed Class of restitution and/or other equitable relief, 

including, without limitation, restitutionary disgorgement of all revenues and unjust enrichment 

that Defendants obtained from Plaintiff and the proposed Class as a result of their unlawful 

business practices as described herein; 

5. An award of all economic, monetary, actual, consequential, compensatory, and treble damages 

caused by Defendants' conduct; 

6. An award of punitive damages; 

7. An award of reasonable expenses of attorney's fees; 

8. An award of pre and post-judgment interest, to the extent allowable; and 

9. For such further relief that the Court may deem just and proper. 
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l. That the case be certified as a class action on behalf of the Class, appoint Plaintiff as Class 

representative, and appoint his counsel as Class counsel; 

2. A declaration that Defendants' actions, as described herein, violate the law as described herein; 

3. An award of injunctive and other equitable relief as necessary to protect the interests of Plaintiff 

and the Class, including an order prohibiting Defendants from engaging in the unlawful acts 

described above; 

4. An award to Plaintiff and the proposed Class of restitution and/or other equitable relief, 

including, without limitation, restitutionary disgorgement of all revenues and unjust enrichment 

that Defendants obtained from Plaintiff and the proposed Class as a result of their unlawful 

business practices as described herein; 

5. An award of all economic, monetary, actual, consequential, compensatory, and treble damages 

caused by Defendants' conduct; 

6. An award of punitive damages; 

7. An award of reasonable expenses of attorney's fees; 

8. An award of pre and post-judgment interest, to the extent allowable; and 

9. For such further relief that the Court may deem just and proper. 
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WHEREFORE, P la int iff respectfu l ly requests judgment as fo l lows: 

1. That the case be certified as a class action on behalf of the Class, a ppoint P la intiff as Class 

representative, and appoint his counsel as  Class counsel; 

2 .  A declaration that Defendants' actions, as described herein, violate the law as described herein; 

3. An award of injunctive and other equitable rel ief as necessa ry to protect the interests of P la intiff 

and the Class, i nc luding a n  o rder prohibiting Defendants from engaging i n  the un lawful acts 

described a bove; 

4. An award to P la intiff and the proposed Class of restitution and/or other equitable rel ief, 

including, without l imitation, restitutionary d isgorgement of a l l  revenues and unjust enrichment 

that Defendants obtained from Pla int iff a nd the proposed Class as a resu lt of their unlawful 

business practices as described herein; 

5 .  An award of a l l  economic, monetary, actual, consequential , compensatory, and treble damages 

caused by Defendants' conduct; 

6. An award of pun itive damages; 

7 .  An award of reasonable expenses of attorney's fees; 

8. An award of pre and post-judgment interest, to the extent a l lowable; and 

9 .  For such further rel ief that  the Court may deem just and proper. 
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